
 
City Commission Agenda

Civic Center, 2 Park Drive South, Great Falls, MT
Commission Chambers Room 206

January 2, 2019

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 P.M.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS

AGENDA APPROVAL

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE/ EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
(Public comment on any matter that is not on the agenda of the meeting and that is within the jurisdiction of the City Commission. Please
keep your remarks to a maximum of 3 minutes. When at the podium, state your name and address for the record.)

1. Miscellaneous reports and announcements.

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS

2. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Neighborhood Councils.

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

3. Reappointment, Park and Recreation Board.

4. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Boards and Commissions.

CITY MANAGER

5. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Manager.

CONSENT AGENDA
The Consent Agenda is made up of routine day-to-day items that require Commission action. Items may be pulled from the Consent Agenda
for separate discussion/vote by any Commissioner.

6. Minutes, December 18, 2018, Commission Meeting.

7. Total Expenditures of $3,078,795 for the period of December 6, 2018 through December
19, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $2,767,195.

8. Contracts List

Action:  Approve Consent Agenda as presented or remove items for separate discussion and/or vote

PUBLIC HEARINGS

9. Lease Agreement with the Children's Museum of Montana for the property located at #22
Railroad Square.

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 1 of 78                                     



Action: Conduct a public hearing and approve or not approve the Lease Agreement. (Presented
by Greg Doyon)

10. Resolution 10274, Declaring Certain Property Located at 520 8th Avenue South, a
Nuisance, Order the Nuisance be Abated and Authorize City Staff To Force Abatement
if Necessary.
Action: Conduct public hearing and adopt or deny Res.10274. (Presented by Craig Raymond)

OLD BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS

11. Resolution 10281, Delegating the Great Falls Public Works Department Authority to
Establish and Maintain Traffic Control Devices.
Action: Adopt or deny Res. 10281. (Presented by Joseph Cik)

CITY COMMISSION

12. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Commission.

13. Commission Initiatives.

ADJOURNMENT
(Please exit the chambers as quickly as possible. Chamber doors will be closed 5 minutes after adjournment of the meeting.) Commission
meetings are televised on cable channel 190. If a video recording is available it will be posted on the City's website
at https://greatfallsmt.net after the meeting. City Commission meetings are re-aired on cable channel 190 the following Wednesday morning
at 10 am, and the following Tuesday evening at 7 pm.

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 2 of 78                                     

https://greatfallsmt.net


Agenda # 3.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Reappointment, Park and Recreation Board.

From: City Manager's Office

Initiated By: City Commission

Presented By: City Commission

Action Requested: Reappoint one member to the Park and Recreation Board.

Suggested Motion:
1.   Commissioner moves:            
 

“I move that the City Commission (reappoint/not reappoint) ______________ to the Park and
Recreation Board for a three year term through December 31, 2021 ”
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Summary:
Lonnie Hill was appointed to the Park and Recreation Board in January 2016 and has served two full
terms one full term.  His term expired on December 31, 2018.  Mr. Hill is interested and eligible to
serve another three year term.
 
Erin Madison Granger, Shirley Davis, and George Geise have terms that are set to expire December 31,
2018.  They are not seeking additional terms.  Advertising was done through the City's website and local
media.  Eight applications were received. 

Background:
Purpose
The Park and Recreation Board consists of seven members who act in an advisory capacity to the City
Commission and the City Manager on all matters related to the Park and Recreation program in the City
of Great Falls.  Per City Ordinance, members must reside within the City.
 
Evaluation and Selection Process
Advertising was done on the City’s website and through the local media.  The Park and Recreation
Board recommended reviewing the applications and to conduct interviews during their meeting in
January 2019 before making recommendations.  The termed Board members will stay on the Board until

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 3 of 78                                     



new members are recommended and appointed by the City Commission.  
 
Continuing members of this board are:
Katheryn Kotynski                2/6/2016 -- 12/31/2020 
June Sprout                          1/1/2015 -- 12/31/2020
Lynn Ulmer Oatman             1/1/2015 -- 12/31/2020
 
Interested in serving another term:
Lonnie Hill                             1/1/2016 -- 12/31/2018
 
Terms Expiring and not seeking reappointment:               
Erin Madison Granger            1/1/2016 -- 12/31/2018
George Geise                        1/1/2016 -- 12/31/2018
Shirley Davis                         1/2/2013 -- 12/31/2018
 
Applications received from:
Jim Sargent
Dan Manella
Patrick Carroll
Jen Creed
Laramie Smovir
Cameron Carpenter (has since withdrawn his application)
Brianne Laurin
Joshua Granger

Alternatives:
The City Commission could chose not to reappoint Mr. Hill and could appoint one of the applicants to
fill the position.

Concurrences:
During the December 10, 2018 Park and Recreation Board meeting the Board recommended the
reappointment of Lonnie Hill.  The Board decided to postpone appointing new members until the
January 2019 meeting and invite the applicants to attend the meeting.  

ATTACHMENTS:

Applications

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 4 of 78                                     



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 5 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Form updated November 2015 Page 2 

Have you ever worked for or are you currently working for the City of Great Falls?  Yes □  No □   If yes, where and 

when? 

Do you have any relatives working or serving in any official capacity for the City of Great Falls?    Yes □  No □         If 

yes, who, which department, and relationship? 

Have you ever served on a City or County board?   Yes □  No □   If yes, what board and when did you serve? 

Are you currently serving on a Board?  Yes □  No □    If yes, which board?        

Please describe your interest in serving on this board/commission? 

Please describe your experience and/or background which you believe qualifies you for service on this 

board/commission? 

Additional comments: 

Signature Date: 

 

If you are not selected for the current opening, your application may be kept active for up to one year 

by contacting the City Manager’s office.  Should a board/commission vacancy occur within 30 days 

from the last City Commission appointment, a replacement member may be selected from citizen 

interest forms submitted from the last advertisement.  For more information, contact the 

City Manager’s office at 455-8450. 

 

Return this form to:  
City Manager’s Office 

P.O. Box 5021 

Great Falls, MT 59403 

Fax:  

(406) 727-0005 

Email: 

kartis@greatfallsmt.net 

 

Fair Board

11/1/18

 
Great Falls is our community, the park & recreation departments help keep this community growing stronger
and I believe it brings much need revenue to the town, we need to keep moving in a positive direction. 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 6 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 7 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 8 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 9 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 10 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 11 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 12 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 13 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 14 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 15 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 16 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 17 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 18 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 19 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Great Falls Park and Recreation Board      December 10th, 2018 

Name: Joshua Granger 

Home Address: 3305 Coyote Lane 

Great Falls, MT 59404 

Email Address: joshuagranger@yahoo.com 

Cell Phone: 406-422-9664  

Work Phone: 406-791-4370  

Occupation: Financial Advisor 

Employer: Waddell and Reed 

Meeting dates will not conflict with my work schedule.  

Related Background: 

I previously served as the committee chair for Business Networking Group #1 with the Great Falls 

Chamber of Commerce. I currently serve as a member of the Task Force for this year’s Leadership Great 

Falls class through the Great Falls Chamber of Commerce. I also volunteer with Special Olympics in a 

volunteer coordination capacity to put on the summer games in Great Falls.  

Educational Background: 

I graduated with a degree in Business with concentrations in Marketing and Management from Carroll 

College in 2010. I currently hold a FINRA Series 7 and Series 66 licenses, Montana Life and Health 

Insurance Licenses as well as a Chartered Retirement Planning Counselor (CRPC) professional 

designation.  

 

Previous and Current Service Activities: 

Gore Hill Volunteer Fire Department approximately 2013-2016 

Great Falls Chamber BNG Chair 2017-2018 

Great Falls Leadership Great Falls Task Force 2018-2019 

Special Olympics Montana Volunteer Coordination 2017-2020 

 

I have not nor do I currently work for the City of Great Falls. 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 20 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



My wife, Erin Granger, currently serves on the Great Falls Park and Recreation Board. 

I have not previously served on a City or County board.  

I am not currently serving on any other boards. 

I believe that I can benefit my community by serving on the Great Falls Park and Recreation Board. I 

think that the extensive access to recreational activities in Great Falls serves to attract and retain citizens 

to the community. I hope that my service on this board can further this interest and continue to build a 

vibrant and sustainable community for the future. 

My previous work in a variety of service positions listed above qualify me to serve on the Park and 

Recreation Board. I understand the value of listening to sometimes differing opinions and working 

together to accomplish organizational goals. 

 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 21 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 6.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Minutes, December 18, 2018, Commission Meeting.

From: City Clerk's Office

Presented By: City Commission

ATTACHMENTS:

Draft December 18, 2018 - - City Commission Meeting Minutes

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 22 of 78                                     



JOURNAL OF COMMISSION PROCEEDINGS
December 18, 2018

Regular City Commission Meeting
Commission Chambers Room 206

CALL TO ORDER 7:00 P.M.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

City Commission members present: Bob Kelly, Bill Bronson, Owen Robinson, Mary Sheehy Moe,
and Tracy Houck. 
 
Also present were City Manager Greg Doyon and Deputy City Manager Chuck Anderson; City Clerk
Lisa Kunz; Public Works Director Jim Rearden; Planning and Community Development Planner II
Erin Borland; Finance Director Melissa Kinzler; Park and Recreation Director Steve Herrig;  City
Attorney Sara Sexe; and, Police Chief Dave Bowen.

AGENDA APPROVAL

Deputy City Manager Chuck Anderson noted that the Minutes of the December 4 Commission meeting
were updated after original posting to correct grammatical and non-substantive clerical errors; and,
the date of the public hearing, January 2, 2019, was added to the agenda language for Item 17.  No
changes were proposed by the City Commission. The agenda was approved as submitted.

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE/ EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS

None.

FIREFIGHTER OATH

Firefighter Oaths - Travis Cik, Brett Castillo, Ryan Olson

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. Miscellaneous reports and announcements.

John Hubbard, 615 7th Avenue South, inquired how long the public water system exceeded the
maximum contaminant level, and if there was anything the public needed to do before drinking the
water.
 
Mayor Kelly noted that those comments have been addressed during the past two Commission
meetings.  He suggested that Mr. Hubbard address further questions in writing to the Public Works
Department.

NEIGHBORHOOD COUNCILS

2. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Neighborhood Councils.

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 1 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 23 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Tim Austin, NC 3, reported that the Council is opposed to increasing the speed limit on 36th
Avenue NE, Bootlegger Trail, to 2nd Street NE.  The Council will be requesting a 4-way stop sign
and inquiring about other possibilities to reduce speed in certain areas of the neighborhood.   The
Council expressed concern about police vehicles speeding in the neighborhood without overhead
lights on.  The Council will address security issues and speeding at its next Council meeting with
Officer Gerhart. 
 
Commissioner Houck inquired the number of people in attendance at that meeting and was
informed about 20.

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

3. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from Boards and Commissions.

Commissioner Houck reported on her attendance at a recent Local Emergency Planning
Committee (LEPC) meeting.  This group will work together and be liaisons to some federal
agencies to make it so we are always ready in and emergency to respond.
 
Commissioner Moe reported that, subsequent to the last work session on the changes proposed by
the Parking Advisory Commission (PAC), the owner of Electric City Coffee hosted a meeting of
interested downtown residents/business owners.  It was a productive meeting that included helpful
exchange of information and ideas.  The next meeting of the PAC is scheduled for Thursday at
3:30 p.m.

4. Reappointment and Appointments, Great Falls Planning Advisory Board.

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Moe, that the City Commission
reappoint Dave Bertelsen and appoint Kelly Buschmeyer and Samantha Shinaberger to the
Great Falls Planning Advisory Board for three-year terms ending on December 31, 2021.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners. 

Commissioner Bronson noted that the two appointees were recommended by the Planning
Advisory Board, and that he is looking forward to working with them. 
 
Mayor Kelly noted that the other great candidates' applications will be kept on file.

There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0 

CITY MANAGER

5. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Manager.

City Manager Greg Doyon encouraged people with concerns about City water to call the Public

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 2 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 24 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Works Department for more specific information.
 
Park and Recreation Director Steve Herrig announced that:

The department was awarded two Missouri Madison River Fund grants for West Bank Park
projects.
The first distribution of Park Maintenance District (PMD) funds was received last week. 
The Park and Recreation's webpage on the City's website will include current and completed
PMD projects.
The City partnered with the Montana School for the Deaf and Blind to offer public indoor
swimming classes and lessons beginning mid-January.  Fees will be based on usage to cover
City costs.  When the Natatorium closes, the lift will be transferred and installed at the Deaf
and Blind School.  When finalized, the schedule will be posted on the City's website and at
the Natatorium.

 
Mayor Kelly suggested an open house/orientation be scheduled for the Natatorium users at the
Montana School for the Deaf and Blind.   
 
Commissioner Moe suggested that staff reach out to the Natatorium users that made public
comment at the Commission meetings to make them aware of the schedule and orientation.
 
Manager Doyon reported that the Montana Defense Alliance held its annual strategic planning
session yesterday and is outlining its program of work for the next year.  There continues to be a
flurry of pre-legislative activity.
 
Deputy City Manager Chuck Anderson announced that City Clerk Lisa Kunz received certification
from the International Institute of Municipal Clerks.
 
Manager Doyon expressed appreciation to Kathy Mora and Kevin Hager for their many years of
service and wished them well in their retirement.

CONSENT AGENDA

6. Minutes, December 4, 2018, Commission meeting.

7. Total Expenditures of $4,042,177 for the period of November 17, 2018 through
December 5, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $3,838,470.

8. Contracts List.

9. Grants List.

10. Reschedule the regularly scheduled Commission meeting date of Tuesday,
January 1, 2019, to Wednesday, January 2, 2019.

11. Approve a Utility Bill Printing and Mailing Services Agreement with
DataProse.

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 3 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 25 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



12. Approve a Master Services and Metro Ethernet Agreement in the amount of
$110,232 per year for a 3 year term to Centurylink, Inc. for network services.

13. Approve the purchase of one 2017 Elgin Pelican 3-wheel mechanical sweeper
for $193,113, from Titan Machinery of Great Falls through Sourcewell
purchasing program.

14. Approve Change Order No. 1 in the amount of $6,972.56 and the Final Payment
for the Lift Station #8 Removal, in the amount of $11,135.15 to Central
Excavation and $112.48 to the State Miscellaneous Tax Fund and authorize the
City Manager to execute the necessary documents and to make the payments.

OF
1722.2

15. Approve Final Payment for the Gore Hill Pump Station Pump Replacement
project in the amount of $3,459.06 to Sletten Construction Company and $34.94
to the State Miscellaneous Tax Fund and authorize the City Manager to make the
payments.

OF1625.6

16. Award a contract in the amount of $83,000 to Horn Construction for the West
Bank Park Phase 3 Project, and authorize the City Manager to execute the
construction contract documents.

OF
1585.9

17. Set a public hearing for January 2, 2019, for consideration of a Lease Agreement
with the Children's Museum of Montana for the property located at #22 Railroad
Square.

Commissioner Houck moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission approve the Consent Agenda as described.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0 

PUBLIC HEARINGS

18. Resolution 10277, Approving a Conditional Use Permit for an "Indoor
Sports and Recreation" land use upon the property located at 901 9th
Street North.

Planning and Community Development Planner II, Erin Borland, reported that this is a request to
conduct a public hearing and consider adoption of Resolution 10277 to allow for the establishment
of an "Indoor Sports and Recreation" land use upon the property located at 901 9th Street North.  

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 4 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 26 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



The subject property contains several parcels that altogether encompass 3.24 acres and more than
half a block in an area of town that mixes industrial, commercial, and residential uses within the
vicinity.  This location formerly housed the 65,000 square feet Pacific Galleries Warehouse.  The
building is broken up into three large suites.  The main portion of the building has recently been
renovated to allow a gymnastics center and 25,000 square foot storage space for Pasta
Montana.  The applicant has an interested tenant who would develop the space as a
birthday/bounce house/laser tag facility.
 
Based on the square footage of space being proposed for the recreation use, 64 parking spaces
would typically have to be provided for the tenant. However, because the anticipated number of
customers is fairly low and the time of operation for the proposed tenant only partially overlaps with
the gymnastics training facility, this large parking count is not needed.
 
Twenty-five (25) parking spaces has been dedicated to the recreation facility and is proposing to
add another 15 new spaces.  Eleven (11) additional spaces would be available for occasions where
overflow would be necessary.  The overflow spaces are located on the northwest portion of the
property where gravel parking is already used by a neighboring business's employees. The proposed
off-street parking and site plan were included with the agenda report.  The owner of the property
understands and is willing to provide additional parking in the future should other tenants occupy his
building. 

Mayor Kelly declared the public hearing open.
 
Speaking in support of Resolution 10277 was:
 
Dan Bateman, 3313 5th St NE, applicant and owner of the building, commented that he has
grandiose designs for the building that he will be whittling away at.  Getting tenants into the building
will provide the needed revenue to expand the parking lot, landscaping and other beautification.  He
is excited about tenant businesses providing opportunities for diversion and fun for kids.  He feels
the gymnastic center, birthday party/bouncy house area, and laser tag opportunities will be
beneficial to the kids in the community.  Mr. Bateman concluded that everyone has been in favor of
what he is trying to accomplish, including Neighborhood Council 7.
 
No one spoke in opposition to Resolution 10277. 

Mayor Kelly closed the public hearing, and asked the will of the Commission.

Commissioner Bronson moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City
Commission adopt Resolution 10277 for a Conditional Use Permit for an "Indoor Sports
and Recreation" land use located at 901 9th Street North, subject to the applicant fulfilling
the listed Conditions of Approval.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners.
 
Commissioner Houck noted that she is excited about this business being geared towards young
people in the community.  
 
Commissioner Moe noted a safety concern for children with the parking in front of the building
being close to the street.
 
Mr. Bateman responded that there are only 11 of the 43 currently available parking spaces that are
in front of the building.  The majority of parking is on the north side of the building and not

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 5 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 27 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



adjacent to any roads.  Fifteen additional parking spots will be added to this north parking area.
 
Commissioner Moe inquired if the entrance to the bouncy house area was facing 9th Street.
 
Mr. Bateman clarified that the common area entrance is on the north side of the building.  There is
an exit only door facing 9th Street, which is the west side of the building. 
 
Commissioner Robinson inquired how much space was in the middle portion of the building.
 
Mr. Bateman responded that there is 15,000 square feet in the middle of the building, and 5,200
square feet of that is part of the laser tag area.
 
Commissioner Bronson commended Mr. Bateman for his vision and drive, and for the adaptive re-
use of the building. 
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0 

OLD BUSINESS

NEW BUSINESS

19. Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) and Audit Report, FY
2017-2018. 

Finance Director Melissa Kinzler reported that the City’s audit committee met on December 7,
2018, and recommends that the City Commission accept the FY 2018 Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report (CAFR), the Required Client Communication Letter, and the City's Responses to
the Required Client Communication Letter.
 
The Required Client Communication Letter comments on any internal control recommendations
related to the operations of the City. The letter notes that the auditors have no new
recommendations for FY 2018 and one prior year recommendation and its current status.  The
prior year recommendation is in compliance and no longer recommended.
 
The CAFR is available at the Civic Center in the Finance Department, Room 104, and the City
Clerk's Office, Room 204, and for review on the City's website.  
 
Staff recommends that the City Commission accept the FY 2018 CAFR, Responses to the
Required Client Communication Letter, and authorize staff to submit the related reports to other
government agencies and financial institutions as necessary.  
 
Sarah Stanger, Anderson ZurMuehlen & Co., P.C., reported that Anderson ZurMuehlen performs
two audits - the City's financial statements, and an agreed upon procedures engagement for the
City's building code program.  Ms. Stanger summarized the audit results.  There is a lot of
information in the 200+ page document that is broken up into an introductory section, financial
section, statistical section and single audit section. It is important for the City to submit the CAFR
to the Government Finance Officers Association for its Certificate of Achievement program. The
City has attained that Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financing Reporting for many
years. Anderson ZurMuehlen presented the City with an unmodified audit opinion, which is a clean
audit opinion. There were also no internal control or compliance findings to present.

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 6 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 28 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Commissioner Moe moved, seconded by Commissioner Houck, that the City Commission
accept the FY 2017-2018 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), the Required
Client Communication Letter as presented, and authorize staff to submit the related reports
to other government agencies and financial institutions as necessary.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.

Commissioner Houck noted that she is a member of the audit committee.  She attended two
meetings to review the draft report and to meet with Anderson ZurMuehlen.  She concluded the
CAFR is a wonderful report and comprehensively covers what was done in the City.  Two
members of the public are also on on audit committee. 
 
Mayor Kelly noted that the City has been awarded the GFOA Certificate of Achievement every
fiscal year since 1993/1994.

There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0

20. Minor Subdivision - West Bank Landing, a subdivision of Lot 2 of
Certificate of Survey #5113 initiated by Skip Rock LLC.

Planning and Community Development Planner II, Erin Borland, reported that this item is a
request to consider approval of the Amended Plat of the Minor Subdivision and accompanying
Findings of Fact of Lot 2 of the West Bank Landing Development.  West Bank Landing is a
mixed-use development located on 3rd Street NW, north of the Cowboy's Bar and the West Bank
One development.  The project consists of six parcels totaling 12.5 acres.  The first phase included
the Spring Hill Suites/Marriott hotel.  The second phase included the renovation of the existing
barrel building into the Peak Health & Wellness Center which is also complete and open. The
second phase also included two new mixed-use buildings, one of which is under construction, and
an additional building which will include two quick service restaurants.
 
The applicant, Skip Rock, LLC, is seeking a minor subdivision to create four (4) lots with each
proposed and existing building on its own lot.  The proposed newly created lots conform to the M-2
Mixed Use Transitional district development standards outlined in the Land Development
Code.  Due to the configuration of the lots, parking and access will be shared between the owners
of the lots.  A shared parking, maintenance, and access agreement currently exists for the
development. This agreement shall be revised to reflect the new lot configuration and potential
change in ownership.

Commissioner Moe moved, seconded by Commissioner Bronson, that the City Commission
approve the Amended Plat of the Minor Subdivision of Lot 2 of West Bank Landing, as
legally described in the Staff Report, and adopt the accompanying Findings of Fact, subject
to the Conditions of Approval being fulfilled by the applicant.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or if there was any discussion
amongst the Commissioners.  Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 7 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 29 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Motion carried 5-0

21. Anaconda Hills and Eagle Falls Golf Course Management Agreement.

Park and Recreation Director Steve Herrig reported that a Request for Proposals (RFP) was
issued on August 24, 2018, for the management of the two golf courses.  Two proposals were
received - CourseCo, a company based out of California, and the local Great Falls Baseball Club. 
Both proposers interviewed with the City in October.  At the November 7, 2018, work session, the
Commission approved of staff's request to continue conversations with CourseCo.
 
With regard to the Management Agreement posted on the website, Director Herrig reported that: 
Page 1, Exhibit "A" will be pictures of the two golf facilities; page 6, Exhibit "X" will be a final
budget/2018-2019 financial plan, and the reference to Section 6.14 in the third paragraph should
read Section 6.15; Page 11, Exhibit "X" will be the necessary start-up costs, and Exhibit "Y" will
be a full comprehensive inventory of current capital items.
 
With regard to Page 4 of the Addendum, Director Herrig pointed out that the Start-Up Costs will
be corrected to (e.g. equipment for concessions) and staff is requesting that the one time fee of
$40,000 be changed to "up to/not to exceed $80,000."  Most of that amount will be equipment for a
food and beverage operation. 

Commissioner Moe moved, seconded by Commissioner Bronson, that the City Commission
approve a three-year Management Agreement with CourseCo beginning February 1, 2019.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public. No one responded.
 
Mayor Kelly noted that there was a large attendance at the work session, and people were available
after the work session to mingle with the CourseCo executives.  Attendees of the work session
were encouraged to attend the Commission meeting if they had any further questions or points they
would like to make.

Mayor Kelly asked if there was any discussion amongst the Commissioners. 

Commissioner Moe referred to Page 3 of the Management Agreement and pointed out that the
words "which is" are misplaced in Section 4.1.  She also received clarification that reference to the
"City" in the Management Agreement means the City Manager.
 
Commissioners Robinson and Bronson commended City staff, and both are enthusiastic about this
Management Agreement for continued operations of both courses. 
 
At Commissioner Bronson's request, Director Herrig reiterated that its been agreed that it would be
valuable for CourseCo and the Golf Advisory Board to continue to work together.  CourseCo is
also very enthusiastic about working with the current Leagues.   
 
Commissioner Houck encouraged the public to listen to the recorded work session if they have
additional questions.  She expressed appreciation to Director Herrig for the hard work and decisions
he has had to make. 
 
Mayor Kelly noted this is the beginning of a great relationship.  CourseCo seems to have a
thorough understanding of its responsibility to the community and to recreation, and not just to golf,
but to use of the facility and the land it encompasses to include more people throughout.   

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 8 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 30 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



There being no further discussion, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS

22. Ordinance 3195, Assigning I-2 Heavy Industrial zoning to a portion of a
tract of land equaling +/- 6.254 acres addressed as 4415 River Drive North
currently owned by Talcott Holdings Inc.

Planning and Community Development Planner II, Erin Borland, reported that Talcott
Construction is a local construction company that is located at 4415 River Drive North. This
location contains both the company's business office as well as a larger shop building.  These
buildings are located on two properties, adjacent to each other, with the business office residing in
the City and the shop being located in the County.
 
The applicant is proposing to annex the portion of the property that contains the shop into the City
limits in conjunction with a boundary line adjustment that will revise the lot configuration to have
the shop and office building on one lot. The remaining area will stay in the County jurisdiction.
 
The applicant is also requesting that I-2 Heavy Industrial zoning be established on the property to
be annexed.  This would be consistent with the surrounding properties in this location.
 
The requested action is that the City Commission accept Ordinance 3195 on first reading and set a
public hearing for January 15, 2019.

Commissioner Houck moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission accept Ordinance 3195 on first reading and set a public hearing for January 15,
2019.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public or discussion amongst the
Commissioners.   Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote.
 
Motion carried 5-0

23. Resolution 10275, Resolution of Intention to Vacate 1st Alley South within
Block 354, Great Falls Original Townsite.

Planning and Community Development Planner II, Erin Borland, reported that this item is a
Resolution of Intent for vacation of an alley that was spurred by recent construction that is taking
place as Montana Federal Credit Union works to expand its bank office building located at 15 14th
Street South.
 
The Credit Union owns property on both sides of the alley. The western portion of the alley
(approximately 300 lineal feet) was vacated in 1920. This leaves approximately 76 feet of remaining
alley length that was retained by the City of Great Falls as access to the previous apartment building
that was located on the site.
 
Since the Credit Union now owns all property north of the alley, including the lot north of the 76

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 9 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 31 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



foot alley section, the applicant asked the City about vacating the remaining section. 
City staff recommends in favor of the applicant's request subject to the applicant reserving a 20-
foot wide easement for access to existing utilities. 

According to Mont. Code Ann. 7-3-4448, the owner must file a request for the intent to vacate any
right of way.  City staff must then present a Resolution of the Intent to Vacate such right of way to
the City Commission. The requested action is that the City Commission adopt Resolution 10275,
and set a public hearing for January 15, 2019. 

Commissioner Houck moved, seconded by Commissioner Robinson, that the City
Commission adopt Resolution of Intent 10275, and set a public hearing for January 15,
2019.

Mayor Kelly asked if there were any comments from the public, or any discussion amongst the
Commissioners. Hearing none, Mayor Kelly called for the vote. 

Motion carried 5-0 

CITY COMMISSION

24. Miscellaneous reports and announcements from the City Commission.

Commissioner Bronson reported:
The City/County Commissions met with local legislators last Wednesday to share priorities
and concerns.  The legislative delegation has agreed to tentatively meet again on March 5,
2019, at 3:00 p.m., in the Gibson Room.
He and Manager Doyon attended a meeting last Friday and were able to share some of those
same concerns with Lt. Governor Cooney and staff. 

 
Commissioner Moe read bible verse "Who can find a virtuous woman?" in tribute to community
member Leslie Oakland who recently passed away.
 
Commissioner Robinson discussed attending a meeting regarding the State JMG Program - Jobs
for Montana Graduates.  He announced that Paris Gibson Education Center Senior, Jimmy
McAllister, entered and won the oratory contest at the national level in Washington, D.C. 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Commission Initiatives.

None.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to come before the Commission, Commissioner Robinson moved,

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 10 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 32 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



seconded by Mayor Kelly, to adjourn the regular meeting of December 18, 2018, at 8:27 p.m.

 
 

_________________________________
Mayor Bob Kelly

 
 

 _________________________________
City Clerk Lisa Kunz

 
Minutes Approved:

January 2, 2019

City Commission Meeting - December 18, 2018                                                                                                      Page 11 of 11                                     

DRAFT

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 33 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 7.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Total Expenditures of $3,078,795 for the period of December 6, 2018 through December 19,
2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $2,767,195.

From: Fiscal Services

Initiated By: City Commission

Presented By: Melissa Kinzler, Fiscal Services Director

ATTACHMENTS:

5000 Report

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 34 of 78                                     



Agenda # 7

Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

CITY OF GREAT FALLS

COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT

ITEM: $5,000 Report

Invoices and Claims in Excess of $5,000

PRESENTED BY: Finance Director

ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval with Consent Agenda

LISTING OF ALL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECKS ISSUED AVAILABLE ONLINE AT 

http://greatfallsmt.net/finance/checkregister

TOTAL CHECKS ISSUED AND WIRE TRANSFERS MADE ARE NOTED BELOW WITH AN

ITEMIZED LISTING OF ALL TRANSACTIONS GREATER THAN $5000:

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE CHECK RUNS FROM DECEMBER 6, 2018 - DECEMBER 19, 2018 3,078,795.02

TOTAL:  $ 3,078,795.02

GENERAL FUND

OTHER ADMIN

MUNICIPAL CODE CORPORATION MUNICODE MEETING SUBSCRIPTION 7,000.00

FIRE

BENEFIS HOSPITALS INC OCCUPATIONAL PHYSICALS 14,736.52

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

SUPPORT & INNOVATION

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS NOVEMBER 2018 TAX DISTRIBUTION 96,367.86

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

GREAT FALLS TOURISM BUSINESS NOVEMBER 2018 TAX DISTRIBUTION 127,595.50

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

STREET DISTRICT

WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL OF 1476.6 VINYARD ROAD STORM WATER 5,447.99

TECHNOLOGIES INC MANAGEMENT (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

KUGLIN CONSTRUCTION OF 1730.6 ADA HANDICAP RAMPS 38,866.64

GIANT SPRINGS SCHOOL PH 1

UNITED MATERIALS OF GREAT FALLS 3/8 CRUSHED SEAL COAT AGGREGATE 28,360.02

CRAPO LTD 500 TONS OF ROAD SALT 37,976.44

Page 1 of 3

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 35 of 78                                     Attachment # 1

http://greatfallsmt.net/finance/checkregister


SPECIAL REVENUE FUND ( CONT.)

LIBRARY

MCKINSTRY ESSENTION, LLC BOILER REPLACEMENT 307,543.50

PLANNING & COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

GREAT FALLS BUSINESS FY 2018 MONTANA MAIN STREET GRANT 8,000.00

IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT FOR PEDLET

GREAT FALLS TRANSIT DISTRICT PASS THRU REIMBURSEMENT FOR 21,567.12

TRANSIT PLANNING FROM UPWP FUNDS

CENTRAL MONTANA AG TECH PARK TID

TD&H ENGINEERING OF 1658.1 CMATP TIF PHASE 3 STORM 29,237.25

DRAIN

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

WATER

ADVANCED ENGINEERING & OF 1625.8 ASBESTOS TESTING GORE HILL 34,364.50

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES INC WATER TOWER & BOSTON HEIGHTS

LANDMARK STRUCTURES I, L.P. OF 1625.2 GORE HILL TANK REPLACEMENT 78,402.91

FERGUSON ENTERPRISES INC METER SUPPLIES 5,547.64

SEWER

VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA MONTHLY WWTP OPERATION CONTRACT 241,274.04

VEOLIA WATER NORTH AMERICA MONTHLY CONTRACTED CAPITAL 12,500.00

IMPROVEMENTS

CENTRAL EXCAVATION OF 1722.2 LIFT STATION # 8 REMOVAL 10,355.43

STATE OF MONTANA OF 1674.3 NW INTERCEPTOR REHAB 1% 6,492.21

TAX

PLANNED AND ENGINEERED OF 1674.3 NW INTERCEPTOR REHAB 642,728.30

CONSTRUCTION

STORM DRAIN

WATER & ENVIRONMENTAL OF 1476.6 VINYARD ROAD STORM WATER 14,476.11

TECHNOLOGIES INC MANAGEMENT (SPLIT AMONG FUNDS)

BABB LAND SURVEYING INC OF 1118.4 GIBSON FLATS STORM 5,290.00

DRAINAGE SMITH PONDS

INTERNAL SERVICES FUND

INSURANCE & SAFETY

MONTANA MUNICIPAL INTERLOCAL MONTHLY INSURANCE DEDUCTIBLE 8,327.38

AUTHORITY

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

SHI INTERNATIONAL CORP 25 OFFICE 2016 STD LICENSES 6,825.75

ZUERCHER TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 1 YEAR ZUERCHER MAINTENANCE 66,945.12

CENTRAL GARAGE

KOIS BROTHERS EQUIPMENT WAUSAU MODEL MF3.4 SNOWPLOWS 57,300.00

MOUNTAIN VIEW CO-OP FUEL 13,624.51

CC FACILITY SERVICES

TILLERAAS LANDSCAPE NURSERY CIVIC CENTER LANDSCAPE CONTRACT 16,500.00

Page 2 of 3

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 36 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



TRUST AND AGENCY

PAYROLL CLEARING 

STATE TREASURER MONTANA TAXES 49,107.00

ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 8,848.33

FIREFIGHTER RETIREMENT FIREFIGHTER RETIREMENT EMPLOYEE & 65,503.31

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

STATEWIDE POLICE RESERVE FUND POLICE RETIREMENT EMPLOYEE & 66,328.73

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT 135,320.05

EMPLOYEE & EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

POLICE SAVINGS & LOAN EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 12,649.00

US BANK FEDERAL TAXES, FICA & MEDICARE 214,469.32

AFLAC EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 10,060.28

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 15,639.11

MONTANA VEBA HRA EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 9,987.39

UTILITY BILLS

ENERGY WEST RESOURCES INC NOVEMBER 2018 MONTHLY CHARGES 23,260.31

NORTHWESTERN ENERGY NOVEMBER  2018 SLD CHARGES 79,045.23

NORTHWESTERN ENERGY NOVEMBER 2018 WATERPLANT CHARGE 8,080.65

HIGH PLAINS LANDFILL NOVEMBER 2018 MONTHLY CHARGES 73,676.21

ENERGY KEEPERS INC ELECTRICITY CHARGES FOR NOV 2018 51,567.75

CLAIMS OVER $5000 TOTAL: $ 2,767,195.41

Page 3 of 3

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 37 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 8.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Contracts List

From: City Clerk's Office

Presented By: City Commission

ATTACHMENTS:

Contracts List

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 38 of 78                                     



 

 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA                                                                                                                 AGENDA:      8                                             

 

COMMUNICATION TO THE CITY COMMISSION                     DATE: January 2, 2019 

 

ITEM:    CONTRACTS LIST 

Itemizing contracts not otherwise approved or ratified by City Commission Action 

(Listed contracts are available for inspection in the City Clerk’s Office.) 

 

PRESENTED BY:   Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Ratification of Contracts through the Consent Agenda 

 

MAYOR’S SIGNATURE: ___________________________________________                                                                       

 

CONTRACTS LIST 

 
 
 

 
DEPARTMENT 

 
OTHER PARTY (PERSON 

OR ENTITY) 

 
PERIOD 

 
AMOUNT 

 
PURPOSE 

A 

Public Works/ 

Engineering 

Montana Department of 

Transportation (MDT) 

12/11/2018-

12/31/2020 

$0 Construction Agreement for MDT to 

construct and/or reconstruct a certain 

highway in and through the City and 

County, the construction being known as 

Federal Aid Project No. UPP 5299(131), 

also known as Great Falls South – Urban, 

UPN 9511000; the construction will be 

over and upon Route U-5215 (13th St S) 

from RP 3.011, north of the intersection 

with Fields Road, extending south, then 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 39 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



west on 55th Avenue South to the 

intersection with U-5207 at RP 3.966, and 

then continuing north on U-5207 from RP 

3.877 to RP 0.154 OF 1739 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 40 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 9.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Children's Museum of Montana Lease - #22 Railroad Square (a/k/a Zellarbach Building, T20N
R3E S11).

From: Greg Doyon, City Manager

Initiated By: Greg Doyon, City Manager

Presented By: Greg Doyon, City Manager

Action Requested: Conduct public hearing and approve a Lease Agreement with the Children's
Museum of Montana for the property located at #22 Railroad Square.

Public Hearing:
1.   Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for opponents and proponents.
 
2.  Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.   Commissioner moves:            
 

“I move that the City Commission (approve or not approve) a Lease Agreement with the Children's
Museum of Montana for the property located at #22 Railroad Square. ”
 

2.  Mayor requests a second to the motion, Commission discussion and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the Commission conduct a public hearing and approve the Lease Agreement. 

Summary:
The Children's Museum of Montana has leased the property formerly known as the Zellerbach Building
located at #22 Railroad Square since September 1997. On December 2, 2003, the City Commission
approved a lease agreement for 15 years with an automatic 5 year renewal. The original lease required
the museum to pay all utility costs, maintenance and repairs of the building and its systems.  
 
If approved, the renewal expires November 20, 2023 and does not include another automatic renewal
term.

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 41 of 78                                     



Background:
Over the past year, the city staff held several conversations with the Children's Museum Director and
Board about the continued use of the Zellerbach Building.  The city manager recommends approval of
the revised lease with the understanding that the CMOM will pursue other location options over the
term. 
 
The Commission has received numerous presentations from staff over the past several years about the
need for additional office space in the Civic Center.  The City retained the services of an architect to
rework space in the Gibson Room and renovate the Legal and HR Department’s office areas.  Use of the
Gibson Room was rejected and there are no other areas within the building that could be feasibly
renovated without encroaching into the Gibson or Missouri Rooms or the Convention Center.
 
Lease renewal with the CMOM accomplishes a few important things.  First, it provides CMOM with
five years to search for, locate, and occupy an alternative location.  The Zellerbach building is needed to
provide additional office space for city administration.  Use of the building makes sense because the City
already owns it and it is located adjacent to the city’s administrative center/campus.  Use of the
Zellerbach building also allows the City to address space needs without additional encroachment of
other commonly used areas in the Civic Center and eliminates the need to build an addition.       
 
The Children's Museum has already started a promotion program to begin raising funds for a new
permanent location (https://www.childrensmuseumofmontana.org/donate).

Alternatives:
City Commission could chose to not approve the lease agreement and ask staff to consider other lease
terms with the Museum.  

ATTACHMENTS:

Lease Agreement

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 42 of 78                                     

http://


 

1 

 

Lease Agreement 

 

      THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this   day of   , by 
and between the City of Great Falls, Montana, a municipal corporation hereinafter referred to as 
“Lessor” and Children’s Museum of Montana, Inc., herein referred to as “Lessee”, collectively 
referred to as the “Parties”. 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

Leasehold 

 

      That Lessor, for and in consideration of the rents to be paid and the covenants to be 
performed by Lessee, does hereby lease and let unto the Lessee a portion of city-owned property 
commonly known as 22 Railroad Square, Great Falls, Montana, along with the immediately 
adjacent parking spaces, to be used exclusively for the purpose of housing a children’s museum 
and associated activities.  
 

Term 

 
      The term of this lease shall be for five years beginning from and after the 1st day of 
December, 2018. The Lessee may terminate this agreement before November 20, 2023 by giving 
Lessor at least sixty days’ prior written notice of termination. 
 

Rental 

 

      In consideration of the terms and conditions herein, Lessee shall pay to Lessor, One Dollar 
($1.00) for each year of the lease of said premises, which shall be due on December 1 of each 
year that the lease is in effect.  

 

Covenants of Lessee 
 
A. Lessee does hereby covenant and agree with Lessor that the Lessee will: 
 

1. Use and occupy said premises in a careful and proper manner and not commit any waste 
thereon;  
 

2. Not use or occupy said premises for any unlawful purpose and will conform and obey all 
present and future laws, ordinances, and all rules and regulations of all governmental 
authorities or agencies, respecting the use and occupation of the premises;   
 

3. Not assign the lease, sublet the premises, or any part thereof, without the prior written 
consent of the Lessor, which shall not be unreasonably withheld;  
 

4. Not use or occupy said premises or permit the same to be used or occupied, for any 
purpose deemed hazardous on account of fire or otherwise; 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 43 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



 

2 

 

5. Keep and maintain the leased premises, including but not limited to, the building and 
improvements, electrical, plumbing, HVAC, roof, windows and doors, and all 
appurtenances thereto, including, sidewalks adjacent thereto and parking lots, in good 
condition and repair, except as set forth in paragraph B.1. below;   

 
6. Notify Lessor of any damage to the Leased premises within forty-eight hours after 

Lessee’s knowledge of such damage;  
 

7. Not require Lessor to make any repairs, replacements or renewals of any kind, nature or 
description whatsoever to the leased premises or any improvements thereon, whether or 
not resulting from the negligence of Lessee, its employees, agents, or invitees. Said 
repairs, replacements, renewals or improvements shall be the sole responsibility of 
Lessee; 

 
8. Agree that if Lessee at any time should fail, neglect or refuse to fulfill its obligation to 

repair and maintain the leased premises, Lessor may, but need not, enter the leased 
premises and make such repairs or alternations as in its opinion it may deem necessary, 
and may charge the costs of the same to Lessee to be paid upon the first day of the 
following month as part of the rental, and should said costs not be so paid, this Lease 
Agreement shall be considered in default; 

 
9. Make no alterations or additions in or to said premises without consent of the Lessor and 

the costs and maintenance of any and all such alterations or additions shall be the sole 
responsibility of the Lessee, provided, however, that under no circumstances shall 
Lessee be permitted to destroy or break the main frame of the leased premises, without 
the prior written permission of Lessor;   

 
10. Acknowledge familiarity with the condition of said leased premises and agree that no 

representation, statement or warranty, expressed or implied, has been made by or on 
behalf of Lessor as to such condition.  In no event shall Lessor be liable for any defect in 
such property or for any limitation on its use.  The taking of possession of the leased 
premises shall be conclusive evidence that Lessee accepts the same “as is” and that the 
leased premises were in good condition at the time possession took place;   

 
11. Accept the leased premises in the condition in which they exist at the date of taking 

possession, without representation or warranty, express or implied, in fact or by law, by 
Lessor, and without recourse to the Lessor as to the nature, condition or unsuitability 
thereof, or as to the uses to which the Premises may be put;    

 
12. Pay all charges for utilities used, rendered or supplied upon or in connection with the 

leased premises in a timely manner; 
 

13. Throughout the term of this Lease Agreement, maintain in effect, and provide annual 
evidence of, personal liability insurance covering the leased premises in the amount of 
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for injury to or death of any one person, in the 
amount of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) for injury to or death of any number of 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 44 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



 

3 

 

persons in one occurrence, and property damage liability in the amount of at least Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00).  Such insurance shall specifically insure 
Lessee against all liability assumed by it hereunder, as well as liability imposed by law, 
and shall insure both Lessor and Lessee, but shall be endorsed so as to create the same 
liability on the part of the insurer as though separate policies had been written for Lessor 
and Lessee; 
 

14. Provide policies of insurance referred to in this Lease Agreement which shall be written 
in form satisfactory to Lessor and by insurance companies satisfactory to Lessor.  Lessee 
shall pay all of the premiums and deliver evidence of such policies to Lessor; 

 
15. In the event of failure of Lessee either to effect such insurance in the name hereinabove 

called for or to pay the premiums therefor, or to deliver evidence of said insurance to 
Lessor, agree that Lessor shall be entitled to, but shall have no obligation to, effect such 
insurance and pay the premiums therefor, which premiums shall be repayable to Lessor 
by Lessee with the next installment of rental due under this Lease Agreement, and 
Lessee’s failure to repay the same shall carry with it the same consequences as failure to 
pay any installment of rental under this Lease Agreement;   

 
16. Allow Lessor the right to enter the leased premises at all reasonable hours to examine 

the same or to make such repairs or temporary alterations as shall be deemed necessary 
for the safety or preservation of the leased premises.  There shall be no rebate of rent nor 
liability for any loss of occupation or quiet enjoyment occasioned thereby.  Lessor shall 
have the further right to exhibit the leased premises to prospective tenants or purchasers 
at all reasonable hours; 

 
17. If alcohol is to be served on the premises, obtain prior written consent of Lessor, ensure 

that insurance coverage is obtained for such service, and comply with any and all laws, 
ordinances and regulations regarding such service;  

 
18. Comply with all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, 

including the safety rules, codes, and provisions of the Montana Safety Act in Title 50, 
Chapter 71, MCA; 

 

19. Not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, political ideas, sex, age, 
marital status, physical or mental disability, national origin, or other class protected by 
state and/or federal law;  

 
20. At the end of the Lease term, quit and surrender the premises hereby demised in as good 

condition as when received, reasonable wear and tear and damage by the elements 
excepted; and 

 
21. Indemnify and save Lessor harmless from and against any loss, damage and liability 

occasioned by, growing out of, or arising or resulting from any default hereunder, or any 
tortious or negligent act on the part of Lessee or Lessee’s agents or employees, and such 
indemnification shall survive the termination of the lease. 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 45 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



 

4 

 

 
Covenants of Lessor 

 
B. Lessor does hereby covenant and agree with Lessee that the Lessor will: 
 

1. Provide snow removal and landscaping maintenance during the term of the lease; 
 

2. Not permit or allow any use of the leased property, without consent of the Lessee 
that would interfere with Lessee’s permitted use of the premises. Notwithstanding 
of the foregoing, general use of the leased parking spaces for said property for 
parking purposes shall not constitute interference with Lessee’s use of the 
property 

 
3. Allow for the removal of fixtures built by Lessee which are unique to its exhibits 

and functions as a children’s museum, to be removed upon termination of this 
Lease, unless the removal will cause damage to the building structure.  However, 
standard fixtures, such as counters, walls, plumbing, heating/cooling, electrical 
and the like shall remain property of the Lessor and not be disturbed upon 
termination. 

 
Mutual Covenants 

 

C. It is mutually agreed by and between the Parties that: 
 

1. If Lessee shall pay the rental as hereinabove provided and shall keep, observe and 
perform all of the other covenants of this lease, Lessee shall, and may, peaceable and 
quietly, have, hold, and enjoy the said premises for the term of the leasehold;  

 
2. Lessor is not and will never be liable to any creditor of Lessee or any claimant against 

the estate or property of Lessee for any debt, loss, contract or other obligation of Lessee.  
The relationship between Lessor and Lessee is solely that of landlord and tenant, and 
does not and never shall be deemed a partnership or joint venture;  

 
3. This lease and all covenants and provisions herein contained, shall inure to the benefit of 

and be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, provided that no 
assignment by, from, through or under Lessee in violation of any of the provisions 
hereof shall vest in the assigns any right, title or interest whatsoever; 

 
4. For any notice contemplated by this Lease, service by mail shall be deemed complete 

when the notice is enclosed in an envelope, duly sealed, with postage prepaid and 
deposited in the United States Post Office or any regular depository thereof, or Hand-
Delivered, and directed to Lessor or Lessee at the addresses hereinabove provided.: 

 
a. Children’s Museum of Montana, Inc. 

22 Railroad Square 
Great Falls, Montana 59401, or 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 46 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



 

5 

 

 
b. City of Great Falls 

City Manager 
P.O. Box 5021 
Room 201, Civic Center 
Great Falls, Montana 59403 

 
5. Any holding over after the expiration of the term of this Lease Agreement with the 

consent of Lessor shall be construed to be a tenancy from month to month and shall 
otherwise be on the terms and conditions herein specified, so far as applicable. 
 

6. If Lessee shall at any time be in default in the performance of any of the covenants or 
provisions of this lease, and Lessee shall fail to remedy such default within ten (10) 
calendar days after written notice thereof from Lessor, it shall be lawful for Lessor to 
enter upon the premises, and again, repossess and enjoy the same as if this lease had not 
been made, and thereupon this lease and everything herein contained on the part of 
Lessor to be done and performed shall terminate, without prejudice, except the right of 
the Lessor to recover from the Lessee all rent due up to the time of such entry. 

 
7. The waiver by Lessor of, or the failure of Lessor to take action with respect to, any 

breach of any term, covenant or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a 
waiver of such term, covenant or condition, or subsequent breach of same, or any other 
term, covenant or condition herein contained. 

 
8. Time is of the essence of this Lease Agreement, and of each and every provision hereof. 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their hands and seals to be fixed the 
day and year first hereinabove written. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHILDREN’S MUSEUM OF MONTANA, INC. 
 
 
__________________________________ 
 
By:_______________________________ 
 
Its:_______________________________ 
 
 
 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 47 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



 

6 

 

CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Bob Kelly, Mayor 
 
 
Attest:                                                                 
        SEAL OF CITY 
 
________________________                          
Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

                      
 
Approved as to Form*:  
                                                                           
 
_________________________                         
Sara R. Sexe, City Attorney   
 
 
* By law, the City Attorney may only advise or approve contract or legal document language on 
behalf of the City of Great Falls, and not on behalf of other parties.  Review and approval of this 
document was conducted solely from the legal perspective, and for the benefit, of the City of 
Great Falls.  Other parties should not rely on this approval and should seek review and approval 
by their own respective counsel. 
                                 
                                                             
 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 48 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



Agenda # 10.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10274, titled, "A Resolution Declaring Certain Property Located at 520 8th Avenue
South, Lot 6 Block 499, Great Falls Original, Cascade County, Montana, a Nuisance, Order the
Nuisance be Abated and Authorize City Staff To Force Abatement if Necessary.

From: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Initiated By: Craig Raymond

Presented By: Craig Raymond, Director, Planning and Community Development

Action Requested: Conduct a public hearing and adopt Resolution 10274 Declaring Certain property
located at 520 8th Avenue South, a Nuisance, order the Nuisance be abated and authorize City staff to
force abatement if necessary.

Public Hearing:
1.   Mayor conducts public hearing, calling three times each for opponents and proponents.
 
2.   Mayor closes public hearing and asks the will of the Commission.

Suggested Motion:
1.   Commissioner moves:
 

"I move that the City Commission (adopt/deny) Resolution 10274, Declaring Certain property
located at 520 8th Avenue South, Lot 6 Block 499, Great Falls Original, Cascade County, Montana,
a Nuisance, order   the Nuisance be abated and authorize City Staff to force abatement if 
 necessary."

 
2.   Mayor calls for a second to the motion, Commission discussion, and calls for the vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends the City Commission adopt Resolution 10274 Declaring Certain property located at
520 8th Avenue South, Lot 6 Block 499, Great Falls Original, Cascade County, Montana, a Nuisance,
order the Nuisance be abated and authorize City staff to force abatement if necessary. 

Background:
Beginning in 2013, and continuing through October 2017, the Great Falls Planning and Community
Development Department received multiple complaints about the condition and living conditions on the

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 49 of 78                                     



property, and occupancy of a recreational vehicle located at 520 8th Avenue South, Lot 6 Block 499,
Great Falls Original, Cascade County, Montana 59405.
 
Between 2013 and the present, the Department made all efforts to work with Mr. Brainard and Mr.
Guidotti, the property owners. Violations in 2013 include occupying a recreational vehicle illegally on
the property and non-compliant vehicles. Everything was brought into compliance at that time. Recently
starting in 2017, the Department made several attempts to work with Mr. Brainard and Mr. Guidotti with
telephone calls beginning October 13, 2017. Violation and notice letters were mailed October 17, 2017,
November 1, 2017, August 10, 2018, and September 19, 2018 in hopes that City Code violations on the
property would be cured. Follow-up inspections were conducted but compliance never occurred. City
staff gave extra time to comply due to inclement outside temperatures in the winter of 2017, and the
owners stated they were looking and/or searching for another place to park the recreational vehicle. 
 
Based on eleven separate inspections conducted from the public right of way between October 13, 2017,
and November 7, 2018, numerous violations were shown to exist consistent with the history of
complaints. During the inspections, the following conditions were observed on the property:
 
1.  Non-compliant vehicles including a red and white boat and white boat
      trailer;
2.  Deferred repair needed on the south side of roof and valley metal on  
     the residence;
3.  Exterior weatherproofing of the residence and garage;
4.  Occupying a recreational vehicle as a residence not in the required
     Zoning district;
 
Staff finds that these conditions constitute a Nuisance as defined by the Official Code of the City of
Great Falls (OCCGF) 8.49.010. Additionally, many of the above cited conditions constitute OCCGF
violations independent of the Nuisance as a whole.
 
A title report was examined by the Department on October 26, 2018. The report revealed that Garry F.
Guidotti DBA SC Electric and William Brainard and Gail J Brainard, as Joint Tenants of the property.
Pursuant to OCCGF 8.49.040, a Hearing Notice letter was mailed to Mr. Guidotti and Mr. & Mrs.
Brainard on December 10, 2018. The letter informed Mr. Guidotti and Mr. & Mrs. Brainard of this
Public Hearing and the potential consequences of the Commission adopting Resolution 10274. This
letter was mailed certified, postage pre-paid, and return receipt requested. A copy of said letter was also
attached to the property pursuant to OCCGF 8.49.030.

Fiscal Impact:
The total cost of the abatement of removal of non-compliant vehicles, completing the deferred repair
needed on the south side of roof and valley metal on the residence, completing the exterior
weatherproofing of the residence and garage, replacing missing siding, should Mr. Guidotti and Mr. &
Mrs. Brainard fail to comply is unknown at this time. However, the continued presence of these
conditions propagates blight and slum, thereby decreasing surrounding property values. 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 50 of 78                                     



ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10274
Initial Violation Letter
Second Letter
Photo 1
Photo 2
Photo 3
Photo 4
Photo 5
Photo 6
Photo 7
Photo 8
Final Letter
Newspaper Article

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 51 of 78                                     



 

 

RESOLUTION 10274 

 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED AT 

520 8TH AVENUE SOUTH, LOT 6 BLOCK 499, GREAT FALLS 

ORIGINAL, CASCADE COUNTY, MONTANA, A NUISANCE, ORDER 

THE NUISANCE BE ABATED AND AUTHORIZE CITY STAFF TO 

FORCE ABATEMENT IF NECESSSARY.  

 

 

 WHEREAS, William & Gail J Brainard and Garry F Guidotti, (hereinafter “property 

owners”), owners of the real property and structures located at 520 8th Ave S, Lot 6 Block 499, 

Great Falls Original, Cascade County, Montana, and within the incorporated boundaries of the 

City of Great Falls, were given notice pursuant to the Official Code of the City of Great Falls 

(OOCGF) Section 8.49.040, of a hearing before the City Commission on January 2, 2019, wherein 

said property owners were informed the City Commission would proceed to hear the testimony of 

City personnel and the testimony of any other interested party, who may be present, and desire to 

testify respecting the condition of the property; and 

 

WHEREAS, said property owners were informed that the City Commission upon the 

conclusion of the hearing, would by resolution, declare its findings, and may declare the property 

to be a Nuisance, and direct the owners to physically commence abatement of the Nuisance within 

ten (10) days, and to complete said abatement within thirty (30) days, by having the property 

repaired, demolished, removed or other appropriate act necessary to cure the Nuisance; and 

 

WHEREAS, said property owner was informed that failure to abate the Nuisance would 

result in the property being the subject of repair, demolition, removal, or other appropriate act, as 

the case may be, by the City and the expenses thereof shall remain a lien on the property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Commission has conducted the hearing on January 2, 2019, 

regarding the property pursuant to OCCGF Section 8.49.050, hearing the testimony of the City 

personnel and the testimony of any other interested party, who was present, and desired to testify 

respecting the condition of the property, removal or other appropriate action. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMISSION OF 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

1. Staff and other interested parties having presented evidence of the condition of the 

subject property, and having described the condition of the subject property, the City 

Commission does hereby find the same to be a Nuisance pursuant to OCCGF Section 

8.49.040, and hereby directs the owner(s) to commence abatement within ten (10) days of 

the date of this resolution to the satisfaction of the Great Falls Planning and Community 

Development Director, pursuant to OCCGF Section 8.49.050. 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 52 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



2. It is further ordered that, abatement, to the satisfaction of the Great Falls Planning and 

Community Development Director, be completed within thirty (30) days of the date of 

this resolution, pursuant to OCCGF Section 8.49.050.   

 

3. It is further ordered that, if the owner fails to abate said Nuisance as ordered and within 

the time allowed, the City Staff is directed to take any and all steps necessary to abate the 

Nuisance with all expenses to be collected as a special assessment against the property. 

 

4.  This Resolution shall be in effect for a six (6) month period from the date below. 

 

5. City staff shall serve the said property owners with a copy of this resolution by certified 

mail, postage prepaid, and return receipt requested, as required by Section 8.49.050, 

OCCGF. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY SAID CITY COMMISSION that this Resolution 

shall become effective immediately upon its passage and approval. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, Montana, 

on January 2, 2019. 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lisa Kunz, City Clerk 

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

Joseph Cik, Assistant City Attorney 
 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 53 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 54 of 78                                     Attachment # 2



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 55 of 78                                     Attachment # 2



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 56 of 78                                     Attachment # 3



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 57 of 78                                     Attachment # 3



 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 58 of 78                                     Attachment # 4



 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 59 of 78                                     Attachment # 5



 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 60 of 78                                     Attachment # 6



 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 61 of 78                                     Attachment # 7



 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 62 of 78                                     Attachment # 8



 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 63 of 78                                     Attachment # 9



 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 64 of 78                                     Attachment # 10



 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 65 of 78                                     Attachment # 10



 

 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 66 of 78                                     Attachment # 11



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 67 of 78                                     Attachment # 12



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 68 of 78                                     Attachment # 12



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 69 of 78                                     Attachment # 13



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 70 of 78                                     Attachment # 13



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 71 of 78                                     Attachment # 13



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 72 of 78                                     Attachment # 13



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 73 of 78                                     Attachment # 13



City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 74 of 78                                     Attachment # 13



Agenda # 11.
Commission Meeting Date: January 2, 2019

City of Great Falls
Commission Agenda Report

Item: Resolution 10281, "A Resolution Delegating the Great Falls Public Works Department Authority
to Establish and Maintain Traffic Control Devices."

From: Joseph P. Cik, Assistant City Attorney

Initiated By: Greg Doyon, City Manager

Presented By: Joseph P. Cik, Assistant City Attorney

Action Requested: Adopt Resolution 10281.

Suggested Motion:
1.     Commissioner moves:
 
     "I move that the City Commission (adopt/not adopt) Resolution 10281."
 
2.     Mayor calls for a second to the motion, public comment, Commission discussion, and calls for the
vote.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt Resolution 10281. 

Background:
City staff has assembled input from different departments to continue with a comprehensive revision of
the Code. As part of the ongoing OCCGF revision process, on September 18, 2018 the Commission
adopted Ordinance 3188 Repealing and Replacing OCCGF Title 10, pertaining to vehicles and traffic. 
The newly established provisions of OCCGF Title 10 became effective October 18, 2018. Staff
believes that further clarification and delegation of authority under the new provisions is necessary.
 
The recently enacted OCCGF §10.3.010 provides in pertinent part:
 
The Public Works Department, with the approval of the City Commission and The Montana Department
of Transportation when applicable, shall place and maintain traffic and parking control signs, signals,
and devices when and as required under the OCCGF, pursuant to the recommendations of the Manual on
Traffic Control Devices, and may place and maintain such additional traffic-control devices as
necessary to regulate traffic under the OCCGF or under State law, or to guide or warn traffic.
Id. at (A.). 
 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 75 of 78                                     



By adopting the resolution under consideration, the Commission will be delegating authority and granting
approval to the Great Falls Public Works Department to place and maintain traffic and parking control
signs, signals, and devices when necessary and in compliance with all State, Federal, and local law and
applicable MDT approval.  This will allow the department to continue to establish traffic control
measures efficiently requiring no further Commission administrative action.

Fiscal Impact:
None. 

Concurrences:
Public Works
City Manager's Office

ATTACHMENTS:

Resolution 10281

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 76 of 78                                     



 

 

 

RESOLUTION 10281 

 

A RESOLUTION DELEGATING THE GREAT FALLS PUBLIC 

WORKS DEPARTMENT AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH AND 

MAINTAIN TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES.  

 

************************************** 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission adopted Ordinance 3188, September 18, 

2018; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 3188 repealed and replaced Title 10 of the Official Code 

of the City of Great Falls (OCCGF) pertaining to Vehicles and Traffic; and 

 

WHEREAS, OCCGF § 10.3.010 authorizes the Public Works Department, with 

the approval of the City Commission and The Montana Department of Transportation 

(MDT) when applicable, to place and maintain traffic and parking control signs, signals, 

and devices when and as required under the OCCGF, pursuant to the recommendations of 

the Manual on Traffic Control Devices (MTCD); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to grant the Public Works Department 

authority to establish and maintain traffic and parking control devices with appropriate 

MDT approval in accordance with the MTCD without additional Commission 

administrative action. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF 

THE CITY OF GREAT FALLS, MONTANA: 

 

1. The Great Falls Public Works Department, through its Director or designee, is 

hereby granted authority and approval by the City Commission to place and 

maintain traffic and parking control signs, signals, and devices when necessary 

and in compliance with all State, Federal, and local law and applicable MDT 

approval; and 

 

2. This Resolution is adopted in the interest of public safety, health, and welfare.    

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED BY SAID CITY COMMISSION that this 

Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Commission of the City of Great Falls, 

Montana, on January 2, 2019. 

 

 

 Bob Kelly, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 77 of 78                                     Attachment # 1



 

 

 

 

 

Darcy Dea, Deputy City Clerk 

 

 

(SEAL OF CITY) 

 

 

APPROVED FOR LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

 

Joseph P. Cik, Assistant City Attorney 

City Commission Meeting - January 2, 2019                                                                                                      Page 78 of 78                                     Attachment # 1


	Meeting Agenda
	Reappointment, Park and Recreation Board.
	Minutes, December 18, 2018, Commission Meeting.
	Total Expenditures of $3,078,795 for the period of December 6, 2018 through December 19, 2018, to include claims over $5,000, in the amount of $2,767,195.
	Contracts List
	Children's Museum of Montana Lease - #22 Railroad Square (a/k/a Zellarbach Building, T20N R3E S11).
	Resolution 10274, titled, "A Resolution Declaring Certain Property Located at 520 8th Avenue South, Lot 6 Block 499, Great Falls Original, Cascade County, Montana, a Nuisance, Order the Nuisance be Abated and Authorize City Staff To Force Abatement if Necessary.
	Resolution 10281, "A Resolution Delegating the Great Falls Public Works Department Authority to Establish and Maintain Traffic Control Devices."

